U.S. Department of Labor Administrative Review Board
200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20210

In the Matter of:

DAVID A. FIELDS, ROBERT P. WEISS, ARB CASE NO. 97-070
and JACK D. STEWART,
ALJ CASE NO. 96-ERA-22
COMPLAINANTS,
DATE: March 13, 1998
V.

FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION,

RESPONDENT.

BEFORE: THE ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW BOARD

FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

This case arises unde Section 211, the employee protection provision of the Energy
Reorganization Act of 1974, as amended (ERA), codified at 42 U.S.C. 85851 (1988 and Supp. V
1993).Y David A. Fields (Fidds) and Robert P. Weiss (Weiss) aleged that Florida Power
Corporation (FPC or Florida Power) violated the ERA when it discharged them from employment.
Jack D. Stewart (Stewart) alleges that his demotion violated the ERA 2

InaRecommended Decision and Order (R. D. and O.), theAdministrative Lav Judge (ALJ)
granted FPC’ s motion for summary decision, which was based upon subsection (g) of Section 211
(Section 211(Qg)), on the ground that Complainants deliberately caused a violation of the ERA and

¥ Section 211(a), 42 U.S.C. §5851(a), providesin relevant part:

(1) Noemployer may discharge any employee or otherwise discriminate against
any employee with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of
employment because the employee . . .

(A) notified his employer of an alleged violation of this Act or the Atomic
Energy Act of 1954 (42 U.S.C. 2011 et seq.);

* % %

7 We will refer to Fields, Weiss, and Stewart colledively as “ Complainants.”
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were not entitled to its protection for whistieblowers? The ALJ articulated a three part test for
establishing a Section 211(g) defenseand applied it to the facts of this case. We modify the ALJ's
statement of the “test” to be applied to a Section 211(g) defense, find that FPC has established the
defensein this case, and dismiss the complaint.

BACKGROUND?

FieldswasaNuclear Shift Supervisor at the Crystal River 3 nuclear plant (CR-3) in Florida,
which FPC operates. Complaint at p.1 (C. at 1).2 Weiss was an Assistant Shift Supervisor and
Stewart was one of two Chief Nuclear Operators under Fields sdirection. Thethree Complanants,
who held reactor operator licensesissued by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), worked
together as control room operators on the “A Shift” at CF-3. C. at 2.

One of the responsibilities of control room operators is to monitor the level of hydrogen
pressure in a storage vessel called the Makeup Tank (MUT), whichis part of the makeup system at
the plant. C. at 4. The makeup system is designed to maintain water levelsin the reactor coolant
system and isone of the primary safety systemsin the event of alossof coolant accident. C. at 4-5.

Prior to April 1993, the hydrogen pressurein the MUT was maintained below alimit of 12
psig. Cat6and CX 6.2 That month, FPC issued anew calculation, called Curve 8, that varied the
amount of hydrogen pressure according to the amount of water inthe MUT. Under the new Curve
8, the more water there was inthe MUT, the higher the amount of hydrogen pressure allowed. C

= Section 211(g) provides in relevant part:

Subsection (@) of this section shall not apply with respect to any employee who,
acting without direction from his or he employer (or the employer’s agent),
deliberately causes a violation of any requirement of this chapter [the ERA] or of
the Atomic Energy Act of 1954. . . .

42 U.S.C. 85851(g). Section 211(g) provides an affirmative defense on which the respondent
bears the burden of proof. See James v. Ketchikan Pulp Co., Case No. 94-WPC-4, Sec. Final
Dec. and Ord., Mar. 15, 1996, dip op. a 6 (stating that the respondent did not show by a
preponderance of evidence that the complainant deliberately caused a violation).

el Since the recommendation to digmiss this case was made on summary grounds and
determination of d sputed fectual issues is nat necessary to render this decision, we do not make
any factual findngs.

g Reference isto the complairt filed by Fields. Weiss and Stewart filed shorter complaints

that incorporated Fields' lengthier complaint and attachments.

g “CX” refersto Complainants exhibits attached to the Complaint and to their opposition

to the motion for summary decision; “RX” refersto Respondent’s exhibits attached to its motion.
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at 6-7 and CX 2. FPC management instructed control room operators to maintain the hydrogen
pressure in the MUT at the maximum level alowed by the new Curve 8. C. at 8.

FPC considered Curve 8 to be a conservative “operating curve’ because it supposedly
included a margin of error and was presumed to be wdl within the “design basis’ requirements of
anuclear power plant. C. at 7. Merely exceeding an operational curveisnot aviolation of anuclear
safety requirement. In contrast, when a design basis is exceeded, the company must correct the
problem immediately, report the event within one hour to the NRC, and issue a Licensee Event
Report within 30 days. C. at 8.

Complainantswere concerned that maintai ning hydrogen pressurein accordancewith Curve
8 wasunsafeand notified the Engineering Department and the M anager of Nuclear Operations, Greg
Halnon. C. at 9. Complainantswere not satisfied with the Department’ s assurance that maintaining
pressure according to Curve 8 was safe. 1d.

On May 10, 1994, during the performance of a scheduled test procedure ordered by
management, the A shift operatorsplotted theMUT’ sactual tank response and pressure levelswhen
draining the tank and noted that pressure levels were tending towards the unacoeptable region in
Curve 8. C. at 10. Complainants coworker, Mark VanSicklen, prepared a Problem Report
informing managers about the concern with Curve 8 and included the actual data obtained during
thetest. C.at 10and CX 3.

FPC managers continued to direct CR-3 operators to maintain the maximum hydrogen
pressure allowed under Curve 8. C. at 11; CX 4, 5. The A Shift operators continued to rase
concernsabout Curve 8 with their managersto no effect. C. at 13. VanSicklenraised theissuewith
the NRC resident inspedctor, who suggested that if Complainants did not like management’s
response, they should submit aformal allegation to the NRC. C. at 15.

On September 2, 1994, Operations Support Manager Carl Bergstrom showed Fields a draft
memorandum from Engineering stating that Curve 8 was accurate, “ reasonably conservative,” and
safe, and that the issue would be closed. C. at 15 and CX 9. A handwritten notation on the
memorandum indicated that it was a “draft recommendation” and that Fields should review it and
provide comments to hisimmediate supervisor, Halnon. CX 9.

The A Shift operators discussed an appropriate responseto the draft letter closing out the
Problem Report on Curve 8. C. at 16. They decided to conduct an operational “evolution,” not
required by plant conditions, to obtain data that would show whether their concerns about Curve 8
werevalid. No one consulted the Engineering Department, FPC managers, or the NRC concerning
theplan. Complainantsbelieved that the planned evol ution comported with existing proceduresand
was within their authority to perform. C. at 16-17.

The operators added hydrogen to the MUT when it was at the maximum water level. C. at

20. Their actionstriggered acontrol room annunciator alarm light (“Makeup Tank PressureHigh”),
indicating that the tank pressure was too high for the level of water. C. at 18. Complainants kept
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the hydrogen pressure constant whilethey rapidly reduced thewater level. Therefore, thealarmlight
continued to be triggered for 43 minutes.”

The data gathered during the September 4 evolution was inconclusive and Complainants
decided to try the evolution again the next night. C. & 20-23. Again, Complainants did not notify
managers or the NRC of their intent to perform an unscheduled evolution.

On September 5the Complainantstold theauxiliary building operator to* dressout,” or wear
protective clothing that would dlow him quickly to vent hydrogen from the MUT should aloss of
coolant accident occur during the evolution. C. at 23. The Complainants again added hydrogen to
the MUT when it was at its upper limit of water. Thistimethey waited 30 minutes before reducing
the water level and the annunciaor alarm light was triggered after the water reduction began. 1d.
Theaarm wastriggered for 35 to 37 minutes during the September 5 evolution. CompareC. at 23
andR.D. and O. at 4, 9.

At the time of the evolutions, athough Complainants suspected that Curve 8 was
nonconservative, they did not know that it was a design basis that should never be exceeded. C. at
7, 27. The datafrom the September 5 evolution showed that the actual system response exceeded
thelimits of Curve 8 and eventually led to the Engineering Department’ s acknowledgment that the
curve was adesign basiscurve. C. at 26-28.

Complainants prepared a Problem Report following the September 5 evolution. C. at 24,
CX 14. The Problem Report did not mention the September 4 evolution, C. at 25-26, athough
Weissdid voluntarily inform asuperior, Senior Licensing Engineer Paul Fleming, about it. C.at 26.
Fields and Weiss did not indude the first evolution in awritten chronology of events, C. Ex. 18, or
mention it in numerous meetingswith FPC managers and attorneys. C. at 40; Fields Dep. at 257.
In responseto the September 5incident, FPC took the A Shift operators* off shift,” which meant that
they no longer operated areactor. C. at 34. Fields was reassigned to the position of support shift
supervisor, an administrative position. C. at 38. Weisswastransferred to another position aswell.
Id.

In response to FPC’s notification of the September 5 evolution, the NRC's Office of
Investigations (NRC-OI) instituted an investigation. Complainantsdid not tell NRC-OI staff about
the earlier evolution# RX 53, 54, 55.

FPC allowed Fieldstoreview adraft letter to the NRC explaining the September 5 evolution.
C. at 41. Fieldsand Weissdisagreed strongly with the tenor of theletter, which completely blamed

1 CR-3 Annunciator Response procedure AR-403 requires operators to reduce pressureto

within acceptable limits upon receipt of an alarm. CX 10.

¥ Prior to the meetings with NRC-OI staff, Fields told Weiss that he would not mention the
September 4 evolution unless NRC-OI investigators asked him about it. Fields Dep. at 260;
Weiss Dep. at 263. Complainants attribute this reticence to the advice of FPC counsel not to
volunteer information to the NRC. C. at 47; Weiss Dep. at 263.
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them for the two unauthorized evolutions, and Fields told managers that he would write his own
letter to the NRC. 1d.; seealso CX 34 (FPC letter to NRC) and CX 35 (Fields letter to NRC).

When an FPC manager told Fields there were rumors of a second unauthorized evolution,
Fields informed management in July 1995 for the first time about the September 4 evolution. C. at
47. FPC immediately placed the Complainants on administrative leave. C. at 49. The company
discharged Fields and Weiss “for violation of procedures and falure to disclose the full intent,
details, and existence of the September 4, 1994 test for nearly 11 months following occurrence.”
C. at 50 and CX 45. For hisrole in the unauthorized evolutions, Stewart was transferred to a
position outside of operations and received a written reprimand. 1d.

In itsreport, the NRC-OI report found that:

the shift supervisor, assistant shift supervisor, and two chief operators on the
midnight shift of September 4 and 5, 1994, deliberately conducted an evolution, not
required by plant conditions, for thespecific purposeof gathering data. Furthermore,
when the allowable makeup tank over pressure was exceeded, the operators
deliberately delayed taking gppropriate action to reduce makeup tank over pressure
while gathering that data.

RX 64, Synopsis, at 1.

A later NRC Noticeof Violation and Imposition of Civil Penaltiesstatesthat FPC committed
several violationsof NRC requirements, including routinely exceeding Curve 8, which actually was
adesign basiscurve. RX 58 at 2. The NRC also found that Complainants’ two unauthorized tests
violated its regulations. RX 58, Enclosure 1 at 2.¢ The NRC acknowledged that Complainants
conducted the evolutions to resolve safety issues that had not been addressed adequately by FPC.
Id. The NRC also concluded that the September 4 and 5 violation “resulted from the independent
actions of a single shift operating crew” but found that “FPC as the employer of the operators
involved bears responsibility for their actions as employees.” Id.

In letters to each Complainant, the NRC stated that the unauthorized evol utions constituted
aviolation of the conditions of an operator’ slicense but determined not to take formal enforcement
action against the Complainants. RX 61, 62. The agency noted that FPC already had revoked the
Complainants' operator licenses. Id. Although the NRC recognized that Complai nants contributed
to something good -- the determination that Curve 8 wasin error and nonconservative, and that the
plant periodically had been operated outside its design basis -- the agency also chastised
Complainants for not raising the issue with the NRC’ s Regional Office or Headquarters. 1d.

¥ The NRC determined that the Complainants' “conduct of unauthorized tests of MUT over
pressure without preparation of the required written safety evaluations’ violated 10 C.F.R.
850.59. C. Ex. 58, Endosurel a 2. The NRC promulgatedtheregulaions & 10 C.F.R. Part
50 pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act and the ERA. 10 C.F.R. 850.1. Therefore, we deem a
violation of these regulations to constitute a violation of the Atomic Energy Act and the ERA.
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THE ALY SRECOMMENDED DECISION

Complainantsfiled complaintswith the Department of Labor in February 1996 alleging that
FPC disciplined all of them, demoted Stewart, and fired Fid ds and Weissbecause they engaged in
activities protected under the ERA. FPC moved for summary decision, citing Section 211(qg).
Complainantsopposed the motion on the ground that they did not deliberately causeaviolation since
they did not know that the evolutions would cause a violation of the ERA.

The ALJ announced athree part test for establishing a Section 211(g) affirmative defense:
(2) that the act was done without direction from the employer, (2) that complanantsdeliberatdy did
an act, and (3) that the act caused a violation of ERA or AEA requirements. R. D. and O. at 16.
The ALJfound that Complainants' actions satisfied the three part test and granted FPC’ smotion for
summary decision.

DISCUSSION

The standard for granting summary decision in whistleblower cases, 29 C.F.R. §18.40 and
18.41, is the same as for summary judgment under the analogous Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(€): moving
parties must show that thereis no material issue of fact and that they are entitled to prevail as a
matter of law. Freelsv. Lockheed Martin Energy Systems, Inc., Case Nos. 94-ERA-6 and 95-CAA-
2, Final Dec. and Order, Dec. 4, 1996, slip op. at 5 and cases there cited, appeal dismissed sub nom.
Freels v. Secretary of Labor, Nos. 97-3117 & 97-3383 (6th Cir. Dec. 31, 1997). The facts are
consideredin thelight most favorabletothe party opposing the motion for summary decision. Webb
v. Carolina Power & Light Co., Case No. 93-ERA-42, Sec. Dec. and Rem. Ord., July 17, 1995, slip
op. at 5. Anopposing paty “may not rest upon mere allegations or denias[in the] pleading[s], but
must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial” and “must present
affirmative evidence in order to defeat a properly supported matiion for summary judgment.”
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 256-257 (1986).

To determine if summary decision iswarranted, we will examine the showing required of
FPC under Section 211(g), beginning with a determination whether Complainants acted without
direction from their employer.

Complainants Acted Without Direction from FPC

It isundisputed that FPC did not expressly direct Complai nantsto conduct the evolutionson
September 4 and 5, but that does not end the inquiry. Complainants argue that an employee acting
under the “implied authority” of the employer has acted with the employer’ sdirection. See Comp.
Br. at 26.

In Dotson v. Ander son Heating and Cooling, Inc., Case No. 95-CAA-11, ALJRec. Dec. and
Ord., Oct. 2, 1995, adopted in ARB Fin. Dec. and Ord., July 17, 1996, which arose under the Clean
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Air Act’s (CAA) analogous employee protection provision, Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) regulations promulgated under the CAA required workers in the heating and cooling trade
to pass a certification test on refrigeration. After failing the test the first time, the complainant,
Dotson, participated with hiscoworkersin cheating during the second administration of thetest. The
ALJ stated:

Thereisno evidence inthe record to support a conclusion that [Dotson’s employer]
Anderson explicitly ordered his employees to participate in the cheating activities
which occurred during the October 31 examination. Therefore, if thereisto be a
finding of direction by Anderson, it would haveto beimplied fromthe circumstances
surrounding the testing. (Emphasis added).

ALJRec. Dec. and Ord., slip op. at 19.

Complainants contend that thereisagenuineissue of material fact concerning whether they
conducted the evolutions under implied authority from FPC management. Comp. Br. at 26. As
support for implied authority, Complainantsinitially cite statements of the NRC in lettersdeclining
formal enforcement action against them:

Performance of an unauthorized evolution affecting safety systemsis a significant
violation. However, after considering theresultsof the Ol investigations, thevarious
written submittals and affidavits you and your attorneys have presented, the
information you provided during your predicisional enforcement conference, and
Florida Power Corporation's (FPC) investigation results, we have concluded that
formal enforcement action against you is not warranted. Thisdecision isbased, in
part, on the extent of FPC management’ sresponsibility and culpability. Y ouareno
doubt aware that the NRC has issued a significant sanction against FPC which
included this violation. (Emphasis added).

RX 61 at 1-2 and RX 62 at 1-2. Complainants argue that “[i]f the management has been held
responsiblefor this incident, then Complainants do not fall under the (g) exception, as they acted
under the implied direction of their employer.” Comp. Br. at 26.

Wedo not agree that the NRC'’ s statementsindi cate the existence of implied authority inthis
case. In its letter to Fields, the NRC found that, “the unauthorized evolutions authorized and
directed by you on September 4 and 5, 1994, constituted a violation of the conditions of your 10

o The Clean Air Act’s nearly identical defense states:

Subsection (a) of this section shall not apply with respect to any employee who,
acting without direction from his employer (or the employer’s agent), deliberately
causes a violation of any requirement of this chapter.

42 U.S.C. §7622(g).
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CFRPart55license.” RX 61 a 1%Y. After noting that the Complainants no longer possessan NRC
operator’s license (which FPC had revoked), the NRC stated that “[t]his experience should
emphasize to you the importance of not taking unilateral action such as conducting unauthorized
evolutions.” Id. at 2. The NRC's use of the words “unilateral” and “unauthorized’ in these
circumstances to describe Complanants’ actions negates any inference Complainants atempt to
draw from the NRC letter quoted above that they had implied authority to conduct the evolutions.
Furthermore, the NRC’ sNotice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penaltiesfaulted FPC
for “ineffective management oversight of engineering, operations, and corrective action activities
demonstrated by these violations.” Ex. 58 at 3 (emphads added). Complainants worked in
operations, one of the unitsthat FPC did not oversee effectively. For all thesereasons, weregject the
argument that the NRC letters demonstrate implied authority.

Complainantsalso cite other factorsto support their theory of implied authority inthis case.
They note that the CR-3 plant was “in an amost constant state of alarm for two months upon the
initial issuance of Curve 8 and hundreds of times subsequently, without filing any reports with the
NRC.” Comp. Br. at 28, citing C. at 53. Complainantsargue that the routinetriggering of theMUT
tank annunciator alarm light wasapast course of “ management acquiescence and approval of similar
conduct” which made it reasonable for them to believe that they had the authority to run the
evolutions. Comp. Br. at 28.

The Dotson case is instructive concerning the allegation that management acquiescence
constitutes implied authority. In that case, the employer, Anderson, was present in the room at the
time that Dotson cheated on the examination. The ALJ reasoned, and we concurred:

Anderson was present in the room when Butch left the answer sheet. Although
Complainant testified that he believed that Anderson had paid Butch a bribeto set
up the exam and provide the answers, he presented no corroboration of this
allegation. Therefore, thereisno evidencethat Anderson knew what Butch wasabout
to do upon beginning the examination. But even if Anderson did know of Butch’s
plans, there must still be some additional showing that he exerted some pressure,
evenindirectly, upon hisemployeesto bothremainin theroom and participateinthe
cheating. Complainant has offered no evidence to this effect, even by his own
testimony. Thus, the question becomes. was Anderson’ smere presencein that room
significant enough to amount to “direction” to Complanant to cheat on the exam?
Whilethereisundoubtedly some combination of facts which would yield apositive
answer to this question, this fact pattern does not. Complainant’s willing
participation in the reading aloud of the correct answers clearly separates him from
being either an innocent bystander or the victim of Anderson’s coercion, however
slight. While it would be understandable for Complainant to be reluctant to refuse
to take the exam under the circumstances which existed on October 31, clearly his
willingnessto take part in the reading of the answersstrongly indicates hisfree will
participation in the cheating. Based upon the foregoing, | find Complainant did not

1/

62.

Thereisnearly identical language in the NRC’ s lettersto Weiss, RX 61, and Stewart, RX
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act at the direction of his employer during the test-taking incident of October 31,
1994.

Dotson, ALJRec. Dec. and Ord., dlip op. at 19.

In Dotson the employer’s physical presence during the complainant’s commission of the
unlawful act did not constituteimplied authority. Inthiscase FPC’ s prior acquiescencein operating
the plant under conditions that triggered the MUT annunciaor light likewise did not constitute
implied authority. Moreover, FPC did not acquiescein the precise behavior that caused aviolation.
Complainants conceded that no one had ever before raised the hydrogen pressureand the water to
the maximum levelsand rapidly drained the MUT of water, asthey did. Fields Dep. at 59; Weiss
Dep. at 179. We find no implied authority here on the basis of employer acquiescence in similar
conduct.

Complainants' final argument concerning implied authority isbased upon aduty under their
operators' licenses to “protect the public andto assist in maintaining the plant at optimum safety
levels.” Comp. Br. at 28. They statethat “[t]heonly way management would further consider their
concernswas if they had some hard datato highlight the problem.” Id. at 29. The NRC'’ slettersto
Complainants, however, explain that Complanants had at least two additional routesto raise their
concerns about Curve 8:

We recognize that your operating crew had raised questions concerning the
conservatism of operating curve OP-103B, Curve 8 to your management and to an
NRC inspector. We are concerned about the responses received from both your
management and the NRC. Nevertheless, as a Shift Supervisor, we would have
expected you to haveraised your concern higher withinFPC. You couldhaveraised
the issue to either the Regional office or NRC headquarters. Rather than pursue
other avenues, you authorized your crew to perform atest that was not described in
the Final Safety AnalysisReport by using aprocedurethat had not been designed for
data gathering purposes. (Emphasis added).

RX 61 at 2 (Fields and Weiss |etters); see also RX 62 at 2 (Stewart |etter).

Therecord demonstratesunequivocally that Complainants could have brought their concerns
about Curve 8 to higher managers within FPC and to the NRC’ s regional office and headquarters.
Giventhat other avenueswere availableto pursue Complainants' safety concern, the duty to protect
the public did not constitute implied authority to conduct the evolutions.

Taken alone or together, the three theories of implied authority did not generate a genuine
issue of material fact. We find, as a matter of law, that Complainants acted without any implied
authority and that they acted “without direction from” FPC when they caused a violation.2?

2 We adopt the ALJ srejection of the argument that Weiss and Stewart acted with direction
of their employer because they were following the direction of Fields, thar superior. R. D. and
(continued.. .)
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Section 211(g) Contains an Element of Willfulness

There is a considerable divergence of gpinion among the parties and the Acting Assistant
Secretary for Occupational Safety and Health, who filed a brief amicus curiae, concerning the
meaning of the phrase, “ deliberately causesaviolation.” Complainantscontend that Section 211(g)
must be interpreted “to require that acomplainant know his acts areillegal before heis stripped of
hiswhistleblower protection.” Comp. Br. at 12. Complainantsalso arguethat the NRC’ sdefinition
of “deliberate” should apply to a Section 211(g) defense. Comp. Br. at 24-25. They statethat under
aNRC regulation, 50 C.F.R. 850.5(c), deliberate misconduct is defined as“ ‘an intentional act or
omission that the person knows' would result in aviolation of law or_regulation.”¥' |d. at 24.

Respondent argues the opposite, that Section 211(g) may deprive complainants of
whistleblower protection even if they do not know that their act causes aviolation. The ALJ
agreed with Respondent and the three part test he derived does not contain a willfulness
element.2

The Acting Assistant Secretary argues that Section 211(g) “appliesonly insituationswhere
an employee willfully commits a nuclear safety violation,” which would be satisfied either by
knowledge that a violation will occur or by reckless disregard for whether a violation will occur.
Asst. Sec. Br. at 4, 8. The Acting Assistant Secretary relies upon the common, dictionary meaning
of theword “deliberate,” thelegidative history of the ERA’ semployee protection provision, and the

2/(, .continued)
O. a 16-18.

= Complainants refer to only a portion of the NRC’s definition, however. The definition

also includes “an intentional act or omission that the person knows. . . (2) Constitutes aviolation
of a requirement, procedure, instruction, contract, purchase order, or policy of a licensee,
applicant, contractor, or subcontractor.” 10 C.F.R. 850.5(c). On two occasions when
Complainants intentionally forced the MUT hydrogen pressure to the point that it triggered the
annunciator alarm and allowed the alarm to remain on for some 35 to 43 minutes, they engaged
in an intentional act that violated FPC’s procedures and instructions. Thus, if we were to adopt
the NRC's definition, as Complainants suggest, we would find that they engaged in deliberate
misconduct as defined by the NRC regulation.

1 The ALJ stated that he derived the three part test from the Secretary’s analysis in Jackson
and Roskam v. Ketchikan Pulp Co, Case Nos. 93-WPC-007 and 93-WPC-008, Sec. Final Dec.
and Ord., Mar. 4,1996. SeeR. D. and O. at 15-16. In Jackson and Roskam the Secretary made
no analysis of the analogous “deliberately causes a violation” language in the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act (WPCA). The Secretary’s entire discussion of the issue was contained in
one sentence: “ For pur poses of my review of the ALJ s decision on the merits, | have assumed,
without deciding, that Jackson’s attempt to dispose of a cable into the water did not exclude him
from protection under the WPCA. 33 U.S.C. 8§1367(d).” Jackson and Roskam, slip op. 5 n. 3.
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fact that requiring anelement of willfulnessfurtherstheremedial nature of theERA’ swhistleblower
provision.

Since the statute does not define the term, “deliberately,” we will turn to the legidative
history. The Acting Assistant Secretary finds support for defining the term to include the element
of willfulnessin the Senate Report:

in order to avoid abuse of the protection afforded under the [ERA’s employee
protection provision], the committee has added a provision which would deny its
applicability to any employeewho, without direction from hisemployer, deliberately
violates or willfully contributes to a violation of any standard, requirement, or
regulation under the act. (Emphasis added).

S. Rep. No. 848, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. 30 (1978), reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 7303, 7304. We
find that the use of the term “willfully contributesto aviolation” in the Senate Committee’ s report
indicates that Congressintended the words* deliberately causes’ to have an elemert of willfulness.

As a remedia statute, the ERA should be liberally interpreted to protect victims of
discrimination and to further its underlying purpose of encouraging employeesto report perceived
nuclear safety violationswithout fear of retaliation. Seegenerally, Englishv. General Bec. Co., 496
U.S. 72 (1990). See also, Bechtel Constr. Co. v. Secretary of Labor, 50 F.3d 926, 932 (11th Cir.
1995) (“it isappropriate to give abroad construction to remedial statutes such as nondiscrimination
provisionsinfederal labor laws.”). SincetheERA’ sremedial protedtionisto beinterpreted broadly,
any affirmative defenses logically should be interpreted narrowly so as to provide the act's
protections to employees who work within the bounds of safety.

The ALJ' s interpretation of Section 211(g) to include any action that is not inadvertent
would, however, greatly expand thebreadth of thisaffirmativedefense. Suchan interpretation could
lead to unfortunate results in situations in which an employee acts deliberately (that is, not
inadvertently), but innocently and without knowledge or recklessdisregard that hisor heractionwill
cause aviolation of the ERA or the Atomic Energy Act.

We are unaware of any decision in which a court has directly addressed the meaning of
phrase, “ deliberately causesaviolation,” in Section 211(g) or anal ogous whistleblower provisions.
The sole Supreme Court case concerning Section 211(g) does not shed light on its meaning. In
English, 496 U.S. at 90, the Court held that a state law “claimfor intentional inflection of emotional
distressdoes not fall within the pre-empted field of nuclear safety” or “conflict with any particul ar
aspect of Section [211].”%¢ The Court’s cursory discussion of Section 211(g) merely repeated the

= The Acting Assistant Secretary “ offered no opinion as to whether the complainants here

willfully violated a nuclear safety requirement.” Asst. Sec. Br. at 4 n. 4.

16/

After the English decision, Congress amended the ERA in the Comprehensive National
Energy Policy Act of 1992, Pub. L. No. 102-86, 106 Stat. 2776. The amendment renumbered
(continued.. .)
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ALJ sfinding on the subject, which neither the Secretary nor the lower courts discussed: “In the
instant case, the ALJfound that petitioner had not deliberately committed a safety violation within
the meaning of Section [211(g)], . . . and neither the Secretary nor the lower courts have suggested
otherwise.” |d. at 88.

Both Complainants, Comp. Br. at 18-19, and FPC, Resp. Br. at 19-20, draw support for their
interpretation of “ deliberately causes aviolation” from lowa Electric Light & Power Co. v. Local
204, Int’| Brotherhood of Elec. Workers, 834 F.2d 1424 (8th Cir. 1987). There, the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit affirmed a District Court ruling that overturned a labor
arbitration award of reinstaement of an employee who had been discharged for “deliberately
violating important federally-mandated safety regulations.” Id. at 1425. The NRC had approved
thedischarge. Id at 1426. The Eighth Circuit found that the employee “ddiberately proceeded to
defeat the interlock system, thereby committing a knowing violation of the safety rule. . ..” 1d. at
1430. Althoughthe court wasnot construing the meaning of Section 211(g), wenotethat the Eighth
Circuit equated the term “ deliberately” with the element of knowledge. The court found that where
the employee knowsthereisarule, knowsthat the rule has an important purpose, and the employee
violatestherule, the employee has acted deliberately. 1d. Wedo not read | owa Electricto mean that
an employee must know the particular rule he is violating or secondly, that an employee who
recklessly disregards safety rulesisprotected. Inlowa Electric the employee had actual knowledge
of causing asafety violation and the issue of recklessdisregard did not arise. 1d. at 1429-1430. We
do, however, rely on lowa Electricto support our conclusion that an element of willfulness must be
present in order to successfully raise a211(g) defense.

Including the element of willfulnessin the meaning of “deliberately causesaviolation” also
is in keeping with Board precedent. In the previously discussed decision in Dotson where the
affirmative defense was successfully raised, the complainant, Dotson, admitted “that he ectively
participated in reading off at least some of the answers’ from a copy of the test that was left in the
room where the EPA examination was administered. Dotson, ALJ Rec. Dec. and Ord., slip op. at
18. The ALJ found Dotson’s “admission sufficient to determine that Complainant deliberately
participated in an activity which violated the Act, whose provisions mandate the taking and passing
of the CFC examination, presumably without cheating, in order to be allowed to continue working
intheHVAC industry.” Id. The discussion in Dotson shows that the complainant acted willfully,
with either knowledge or reckless disregard, that his cheating would cause aviolation of the Clean
Air Act as he continued to work in refrigeration without having lawfully passed the certification
exam. Slip op. at 18-19.

Section 211(g) Does Not Requir e Spedfic | ntent

Complainants suggest that decisions of the Secretary construing Section 211(g) require a
finding of the complainant’ s“ specificintent” to causeaviolation. Comp. Br. at 14. Asanexample,
Complainantspoint to languagein Drew v. Jersey Central Power & Light Co., Case No. 81-ERA-3,
ALJ(Rec.) Dec. and Ord., June 16, 1982, dlip op. at 19, adopted in Sec. Final Dec. and Ord., Jan.

/(. .continued)
former §210 as §211.
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13, 1984 “There is no substantial evidence that Complainant deliberately caused any violation of
thelaw. Drew did proceed to repair the defective wdd valve in November 1978 without benefit of
a prior written approval of his welding procedure for that weld, but he believed he was acting

properly.”

We do not find a specific intent requirement in Drew, where the ALJ emphasized that the
failureto obtain prior written approval wasmerely a* technical procedural problem” and a*technicd
violation” of quality assurance rules. Drew, ALJDec,, dlip op. a 18. There was no indication of
recklessbehavior on Drew’s part. At most, Drew stands for the proposition that where atechnical
and procedural regulatory violation is posited as the basis for a Section 211(g) defense, the
complainant’s belief that he was not causing aviolation is afactor to consider.

Nor do other, later decisionsof the Secretary, convinceusthat for asuccessful Section 211(g)
defense there must be a showing of the complainant’ s specific intent to cause a violation.
In James v. Ketchikan Pulp Co., Case No. 94-WPC-4, Sec. Final Dec. and Ord., Mar. 15, 1996,
whatever the complai nant’sintentionsin using sloppy practicesto conduct laboratory tests, therewas
no showing that his poor practices caused any statutory or regulatory violation, and therefore the
defense based upon “deliberately causes aviolation” necessarily failed”

Similarly, in Creekmorev. ABB Power SystamsEnergy Services, Inc., Case No. 93-ERA-24,
Dep. Sec. Dec. and Rem. Ord., Feb. 14, 1996, athough therecord established that viol ationsof NRC
regulations had occurred, the Deputy Secrdary found that the complainant did not cause the
violations: “Since | credit Creekmore’s testimony that he neither knew about, or condoned, the
premature issuance of good guy letters [clearing personnel for accessto nuclear sites], | also agree
with the ALJ s finding that Creekmore did not deliberately cause [the respondent] to violate the
ERA.” Creekmore dlip op. at 15.

Relying uponthelegidativehistory and statutory purpose of thewhistleblower provisionand
consistent with earlier decisions of the Secretary and this Board, we find that to establish a valid
Section 211(g) defense, a regpondent must show tha a complainant willfully or recklessly caused
aviolation of the ERA or the AtomicEnergy Act, that is, that the complai nant acted with knowledge
or with reckless disregard of whether his or her act would cause a violaion. Having defined the
necessary showing for “deliberately causes a violaion,” we will discuss whether FPC made that
showing in this case.

Complainants Acted With Reckless Disregard, and Therefore
Deliberately Caused a Violation

Complainantsdid not have actual knowledgethat maximizingtheMUT’ shydrogen pressure
and draining its water would cause a violation of the ERA or the Atomic Energy Act, as FPC's
actions demonstrate. The company presented Curve 8 to the reactor operators as a conservative
operating curve and thereisno violation if such acurveisexceeded by asmall amount. Inaddition,

= James arose under the WPCA, which contains a provision nearly identical to Section

211(g). See 33 U.S.C. §3367(d).
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the annunciator light indicating that MUT hydrogen pressure wastoo high had been triggered often
in the months prior to September 1994. Complainants suspected, but did not actually know, that
Curve 8 was nonconservative. Indeed, it was only after the Complainants conducted the
unauthorized evol utionsthat FPC managerslearned definitively that Curve8wasadesign curvethat
should never be exceeded.

Wewould be moreinclined to find an absence of recklessnessif there were no other means
to seek correction of Curve 8. Aswe noted above, however, Complainants could have brought their
concernsto higher managers within FPC and to other levels of the NRC, bothin the regional office
and at the headquarters. An NRC resident inspector even invited Complainantsto submit aformal
allegation to the NRC concerning Curve 8.

Complainants contend that their actions “were appropriate, and consistent with the type
encouraged by therespondent.” Comp. Br. at 8. Nevertheless, they admitted in depositionsthat the
specific evolutions they conducted had not been done in the past. And if they sincerely believed
their actions were consistent with procedures that FPC encouraged, they could easily have sought
approval for the evolutionsfrom higher management. They did not do so. SeeR. D. and O. at 16.

Complainantswerewell aware of the danger of operating thereactor with hydrogen pressure
that wastoo high for the level of water inthe MUT. Both Fields (Dep. p. 54, 78) and Weiss (Dep.
p. 65-66) believedthat catastrophecould ariseif alossof coolant accident occurred whiletheMUT’s
hydrogen pressure was too high.

While the NRC acknowledged that the Complainants' actions had the salutary effect of
proving that Curve 8 was nonconservative, the agency also concluded that thesal utary effect did not
excuse the Complainants’ risk taking:

We further recognize that your operating crew contributed to the determination that
the curvefor maximum make-up tank pressurewasin error and nonconservative and
that the plant had been periodically opeated outside its design basis You also
provided additional data that assisted in determining the extent to which operators
were violating OP-103B, Cuve 8, and the environment that existed at FPC.
Neverthel ess, we emphasizethat the ends cannot justify themeans. Inthiscase, your
actionsdemonstrated thevalidity of your concerns; in other instances such might not
be the case.

RX 61 at 2 (Fields, Weass letters); see also RX 62 at 2 (Stewart letter).

Nuclear power is “one of the most dangerous technologies man has invented.” Rose v.
Secretary of Labor, 800 F.2d 563, 565 (6th Cir. 1986) (Edwards, concurring). Wefind tha, inlight
of the inherent danger involved in operating a nuclear plant and the existence of other avenues of
redress for their suspicions about Curve 8, Complai nants acted with reckless disregard of whether
aviolation of the ERA or the Atomic Energy Act would occur when they conducted the September
4 and 5 evolutions.
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CONCLUSION

In light of the Complainants' reckless disregard for whether a violation would occur, the
Complainants* deliberately caused aviolation” of regulations promulgated under the Atomic Energy
Act and the ERA. There is no genuine issue of material fact and FPC has established a valid

Subsection 211(g) defense as a matter of law. Accordingly, we accept the ALJ s recommendation
and grant summary decision to FPC. The complaints are DI SM I SSED.

SO ORDERED.
DAVID A. O'BRIEN
Chair

KARL J. SANDSTROM
Member
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